Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-12-2014

Golub v. Kirk-Scott, LTD Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41501

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of Case

This case concerns the relative priorities of a deed of trust and a subsequently recorded judgment in certain real property located in Coeur D'Alene, Idaho.

B. Course of Proceedings

On January 25, 2013, Respondents Alan and Marilyn Golub ("the Golubs") commenced this declaratory judgment action in the District Court for Kootenai County seeking a determination as to whether a March 11, 2009 default judgment in favor of the Golubs and against Geraldine Kirk-Hughes, Peter Sampson, Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC, and Kirk-Hughes & Associates, Inc. (collectively "Kirk-Hughes"), which was subsequently recorded, had priority over a November 18, 2004 deed of trust in favor of Kirk-Scott Ltd. ("Kirk-Scott") against certain real property.

On May 9, 2013, the Golubs moved for summary judgment, and on August 9, 2013, the District Court granted the Motion.

On August 19, 2013, the District Court issued its final judgment.

On August 21, 2013, Kirk-Scott moved to alter/amend the Court's August 9, 2013, Order and August 19, 2013, Judgment pursuant to Rule 59. Kirk-Hughes joined in Kirk-Scott's Motion to Amend.

On September 27, 2013, the District Court denied Kirk-Scott's Motion to Amend.

On September 30, 2013, Kirk-Hughes filed its Notice of Appeal.

On November 21, 2013, the District Court *sua sponte* sanctioned Kirk-Hughes for joining Kirk-Scott's Motion to Amend/Alter and, on December 3, 2013, issued its Order regarding Sanctions in which the District Court ordered Kirk-Hughes to pay Golub \$2,400.00 in attorneys' fees. Notably, Golub had never asked for sanctions against Kirk-Hughes.

C. Statement of Facts.

- 1. In mid-2004, Ms. Kirk-Hughes entered into negotiations to purchase certain real property in Kootenai County owned by Lenore and Delano Peterson (the "Peterson Property"). Alan Golub was the listing agent. (R, Vol. 1, p. 324, ¶ 1.) Ms. Kirk-Hughes was expected to purchase the Property in the fall of 2004, and Alan Golub, as the listing agent, expected to receive a large commission from the transaction. (R, Vol. 1, p. 72, L. 15-20.)
- 2. On July 8, 2004, Kirk-Scott purchased approximately 45 acres of real property located near Coeur d'Alene Lake owned by Mavis Sloan ("the Sloan Property"), which is the subject of this action. (R, Vol. 1, p. 73, L. 21-22.)
- 3. In November 2004, Mr. Golub contacted Darlene Moore (a real estate agent from Las Vegas with an interest in the expected commission of the Peterson Property), and expressed concern that the Peterson transaction was not going to close as scheduled. (R, Vol. 1, p. 306, ¶ 15.)
- 4. Ms. Moore informed Mr. Golub that she believed Ms. Kirk-Hughes was still interested in pursuing development of the Peterson property because Ms. Kirk-Hughes had recently created a development company and had requested Ms. Moore to draft a document to

¹ As discussed later, Kirk-Scott transferred title to the Sloan Property to Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC, for the purpose of development. (R, Vol. 1, p. 73, L. 18-22.)

grant Kirk-Scott an interest in the Sloan Property after Kirk-Scott transferred title to Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC. (R, Vol. 1, p. 306, ¶ 15.)

- 5. On November 19, 2004, Kirk-Scott deeded the Sloan property to Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC. (R, Vol. 1, p. 78, L. 13-14.)
- 6. That same day, Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC granted Kirk-Scott a \$1.35M deed of trust on the Sloan Property. (R, Vol. 1, p. 78, L. 17-20.)
- 7. Around the same time, Geraldine Kirk-Hughes was working closely with Mr. Golub while attempting to secure financing for the Peterson property and informed Mr. Golub that Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC had granted Kirk-Scott a deed of trust on the Sloan Property for the purpose of acquiring a project approval. (R, Vol. 1, p. 315, ¶ 22.)
- 8. Ms. Kirk-Hughes was unable to pay the purchase amount for the Peterson Property and the sale was never consummated. (R, Vol. 1, p. 74, L. 12-17.)
- 9. In March 2005, Mr. Kelly Polatis purchased the Peterson Property directly from the Petersons. Mr. Golub was thus denied the real estate commission because the property was purchased by Mr. Polatis rather than Ms. Kirk-Hughes.² (R, Vol. 1, p. 74, L. 14-17.)
- 10. Mr. Golub believed the purchase by Kelly Polatis was a straw-man transfer to avoid paying his real estate commission. (R, Vol. 1, p. 74, L. 18-21.) Therefore, in 2006 he contacted Darlene Moore and asked if Ms. Moore would be interested in suing Ms. Kirk-Hughes in order to recover the above-referenced real estate commission. (R, Vol. 1. p. 307, ¶ 17.) Ms. Moore told Mr. Golub that she was not interested in participating in litigation because

² While the Peterson Property was purchased by Kelly Polatis, in March 2005, title to the Peterson Property was later returned to Delano Peterson following a foreclosure action. (R, Vol. 1, p. 74 L. 20-21.)

"Balinda Antoine [of Kirk-Scott] had a mortgage on the Sloan parcel so there would be no asset to collect against." (R, Vol. 1. p. 307-308, ¶ 17.)

- 11. On October 30, 2007, the Golubs nevertheless sued Geraldine Kirk-Hughes, Peter Sampson, Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC, Kirk-Hughes & Associates, Inc., Kelly Polatis, Delano Peterson, and Lenore Peterson for the unpaid real estate commission in Kootenai County District Court, Case No. CV 07-8038. (R, Vol. 1, p. 162 169).
- 12. The Golubs obtained a default judgment against the Defendants in the amount of \$941,000.00 on March 11, 2009. (R, Vol. 1, p. 35-37.)
- 13. Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC filed for bankruptcy on April 6, 2009 in Nevada. (R, Vol. 1, p. 79, L. 24-25.)
- 14. On September 17, 2010, while the bankruptcy was pending, Kirk-Scott's deed of trust on the Sloan Property was recorded. (R, Vol. 1, p. 39.)
- 15. On October 28, 2010, Kirk-Hughes Development, LLC's bankruptcy was dismissed, and within hours the Golubs recorded their judgment. (R, Vol. 1, p. 35). Recordation of the judgment gave them a judgment lien on the Sloan Property (owned by Kirk Hughes) with a priority date of October 28, 2010. (R, Vol. 1, p. 83, L. 2-3.)
- 16. On January 25, 2013, the Golubs filed the declaratory judgment action which ultimately led to this appeal. (R, Vol. 1 p. 28-52.)
- 17. On May 3, 2013, the Golubs moved for summary judgment. (R, Vol. 1, p. 67-69.) In his affidavit filed in support of the motion, Mr. Golub testified he "was not aware that Kirk-Scott had executed a Deed of Trust to Kirk-Hughes Development" before Kirk-Scott

recorded Kirk-Scott's Deed of Trust on September 17, 2010. (R, Vol. 1, p. 96, ¶14.) (Although not material to the resolution of this matter, it bears pointing out Mr. Golubs' statement is in error, as it was *Kirk Hughes Development, LLC* - not Kirk-Scott - who *executed* the Deed of Trust. (R, Vol. 1, p. 39-40.)

- 18. In the Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment, the Golubs unequivocally stated that their judgment had a "priority date of October 28, 2010." (R, Vol. 1, p. 83, L. 2-3). Several pages later, they argue that they "had no actual knowledge of any interest claimed by Kirk-Scott . . . until the [Kirk-Scott] deed of trust was recorded on September 17, 2010." (R, Vol. 1, p. 90, L., 1-2).
- 19. On August 9, 2013, the Court granted the Golubs' motion. (R, Vol. 1, p. 414-420).
- 20. On August 19, 2013, the Court entered judgment on the order. (R, Vol. 1, p. 435 439.)
- 21. On August 21, 2013, Kirk-Scott moved to alter/amend the Court's August 9th and 19th orders (collectively the "Orders"). (R, Vol. 1, p. 440-458). Kirk-Hughes joined Kirk-Scott's Rule 59 motion on August 23, 2013, but did not raise any additional arguments. (Affid. of M. Howard, in the Augmentation Record pursuant to the Second Motion to Augment, filed March 5, 2014, ¶ 19.)
- 22. Kirk-Hughes filed a lis pendens against the property on September 20, 2013. (Lis Pendens in the Augmentation Record pursuant to the Order Granting Motion to Augment dated Feb. 27, 2014.)

- 23. On or about September 25, 2013, the Golubs purchased the subject property at a Sheriff's Sale via a credit bid. (R, Vol. 1, p. 524, L. 1-2.)
- 24. On September 30, 2013, Kirk-Hughes filed its Notice of Appeal. (R, Vol. 1, p. 534-540.)
- 25. On October 2, 2013, the District Court denied Kirk-Scott's Motion to Amend/Alter and, on November 21, 2013, *sua sponte* sanctioned Kirk-Hughes for joining Kirk-Scott's Motion to Amend. (R, Vol. 1, p. 548-556.)

II. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- (A) Did the District Court err in granting the Golubs' Motion for Summary Judgment when it failed to address the "good faith" requirement under Idaho Code § 55-606?
- (B) Did the District Court abuse its discretion by awarding sanctions against Kirk-Hughes?

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

On appeal from summary judgment, this court may determine whether *either* party was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Hirst v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 106 Idaho 792, 795, 683 P.2d 440 (Idaho Ct. App. 1984). A district court is not allowed to weigh evidence or resolve disputed factual issues, and must deny summary judgment if factual issues exist. *Carman v. Carman*, 114 Idaho 551, 553-54, 758 P.2d 710, 712 (Ct. App. 1988). The standard used on appeal from summary judgment is the same used by the district court in ruling on summary judgment. *U.S. Bank National Ass'n v. Kuenzli*, 134 Idaho 222, 999 P.2d 877 (2000).

An appellate court exercises free review in determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists and whether the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Edwards v. Conchemco, Inc.*, 111 Idaho 851, 727 P.2d 1279 (Ct. App. 1986). All disputed facts and evidence are to be construed liberally in favor of the non-moving party, and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the record are to be drawn in favor of the non-moving party. *Idaho State Insurance Fund v. Van Tine*, 132 Idaho 902, 980 P.2d 566 (1999); *Rawson v. United Steelworkers of America*, 111 Idaho 630, 726 P.2d 742 (1986). Summary judgment must be denied if reasonable persons could reach differing conclusions or draw conflicting inferences from the evidence presented. *Iron Eagle Dev't, L.L.C. v. Quality Design Sys., Inc.*, 138 Idaho 487, 65 P.3d 509 (2003).

If the evidence reveals no disputed issues of material fact, what remains is a question of law, which is freely reviewed. Farm Credit Bank of Spokane v. Stevenson, 125 Idaho 270, 869 P.2d 1365 (1994). "On appeal, this Court exercises free review over the entire record that was before the district court in order to determine whether either party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Lowder v. Minidoka County Joint Sch. Dist. No. 331, 132 Idaho 834, 837, 979 P.2d 1192 (1999). Under the rules of civil procedure, summary judgment may be rendered for any party, not just the moving party, and on any or all of the causes of action involved. Brummett v. Ediger, 106 Idaho 724, 726, 682 P.2d 1271 (1984) (recognizing that civil rules require liberal construction to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of legal proceedings).

The interpretation of a statute is a question of law over which the Court exercises free review. *State v. Doe*, 147 Idaho 326, 328, 208 P.3d 730, 732 (2009). "If there exists a genuine issue of material fact with respect to respondent's knowledge of an unrecorded encumbrance, then summary judgment was improperly granted." *Kalange v. Rencher*, 136 Idaho 192, 195, 30 P.3d 970 (2001) (citing *Farm Bureau Finance Co., Inc. v. Carney*, 100 Idaho 745, 747, 605 P.2d 509, 511 (1980)). Whether a subsequent interest in property takes subject to a prior interest in the same property is a question of notice. *See* I.C. § 55-606; *West Wood Invs., Inc. v. Acord*, 141 Idaho 75, 85, 106 P.3d 41 (2005). Whether subsequent party claiming an interest has notice of a prior interest is a question of fact. *See West Wood Invs., Inc.*, 141 Idaho at 85.

B. The Golubs Could Not Have Priority Over Kirk-Scott's Deed of Trust Because They Had Actual Notice of It Prior to Recording Their Judgment.

The District Court erred in granting summary judgment because there are, at a minimum, questions of fact pertaining to the Golubs' knowledge of Kirk-Scott's property interest. The Golubs moved for summary judgment asserting that their interest was superior to all others pursuant to Idaho. Code § 55-606. (R, Vol. 1, p. 83-84.) Kirk-Hughes opposed the motion, arguing that the Golubs could not qualify as "good faith" encumbrancers under I.C. § 55-606 due to their actual knowledge of Kirk-Scott's prior interest. (R, Vol. 1, p. 327-330.) The District Court did not even address the "good faith" issue (and if it had it would have been faced with indisputable evidence precluding summary judgment), and therefore erred in granting summary judgment. (R, Vol. 1, p. 418-420.)

1. The Golubs had prior knowledge of Kirk-Scott's Deed of Trust.

Idaho is a race notice jurisdiction and the priority of interests in land are governed by Idaho Code § 55-606, which provides in pertinent part:

Every grant or conveyance of an estate in real property is conclusive against the grantor, also against every one subsequently claiming under him, except a purchaser or encumbrancer, who in good faith, and for valuable consideration, acquires a title or lien by an instrument or valid judgment that is first duly recorded. (emphasis added).

The purpose of the race notice statute is to put others on notice that an interest in real property is claimed. See Matheson v. Harris, 98 Idaho 758, 761, 572 P.2d 861 (1977). A "good faith" encumbrancer is defined as a subsequent party that takes an interest without actual or constructive knowledge of adverse claims to the property. See Farm Bureau Finance Co., Inc. v. Carney, 100 Idaho 745, 605 P.2d 509 (1980) (emphasis added). "When a subsequent encumbrancer [Golub] has actual knowledge of a prior interest [Kirk-Scott's deed of trust], it makes no difference whether [the] prior interest was properly acknowledged and recorded." Id. Put another way, Kirk-Scott's interest in the real property was conclusive against the Golubs unless the Golubs recorded their judgment without knowledge of that prior interest, and the evidence is to the contrary. See I.C. § 55-606.

At summary judgment, Golub argued that his judgment lien³ was superior to Kirk-Scott's deed of trust simply because the deed of trust was recorded while Kirk-Hughes was in bankruptcy. (R, Vol. 1, p. 84-86.) However, the validity of Kirk-Scott's recordation is irrelevant if Golub had *actual* knowledge of Kirk-Scott's interest when the judgment lien attached to the

³ As discussed in further detail below, the Golubs' judgment did not become a judgment <u>lien</u> until the judgment was recorded. *See* I.C. § 10-1110.

property. See I.C. § 55-606. In that regard, Mr. Golub himself, as well as Kirk-Hughes, presented evidence and argument at summary judgment which established beyond doubt (let alone raised a question of fact) that the Golubs did in fact have actual knowledge of Kirk-Scott's deed of trust. Specifically:

- a. Mr. Golub testified that he was unaware of a deed of trust *prior to* Kirk-Scott recording one during Kirk-Hughes Development's bankruptcy on September 17, 2010 (stated another way, he was aware of the deed of trust as of September 17, 2010);
- b. In the Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment, the Golubs state that they "had no actual notice of any interest claimed by Kirk-Scott . . . <u>until the Deed of Trust</u> was recorded on September 17, 2010." (emphasis added);
- c. Darlene Moore testified that, prior to the time the Golubs obtained a judgment lien, she personally informed Mr. Golub that Kirk-Scott had an interest in the Sloan Property; and
- d. Geraldine Kirk-Hughes testified that she also informed Mr. Golub that a deed of trust was granted to Kirk-Scott.

(R, Vol. 1, p. 96, L. 9-12; p. 90, L. 1-2; p. 307-308, ¶ 17; p. 315-316, ¶ 22.)

Despite the foregoing undisputed facts, the District Court's decision is devoid of any good faith analysis as required under I.C. § 55-606. (R, Vol. 1, p. 418-420.) The District Court simply stated that "[t]his judgment lien has priority over [Kirk-Scott's] deed of trust because Idaho law gives priority to the first recorded conveyance." (R, Vol. 1, p. 419.) This is an incomplete statement of the law. Idaho does *not* give priority to the first recorded interest *when the party*

recording its interest has knowledge of a prior unrecorded conveyance. I.C. § 55-606. Given the unambiguous language of the statute, and clear holdings in prior cases, the District Court clearly erred by failing to consider the good faith issue, and as such summary judgment was improper.

2. <u>Violation of an automatic bankruptcy stay does not invalidate Kirk-Scott's deed of trust, nor does it impact the fact of the Golubs' actual knowledge of Kirk-Scott's interest.</u>

At summary judgment, the Golubs argued that they did not have "constructive notice" of Kirk-Scott's interest because the deed of trust was recorded during Kirk-Hughes's bankruptcy in violation of the automatic stay, and because the deed was not validly acknowledged under Idaho law. (R, Vol. 1, p. 86-89.) However, the alleged defects only bear on the issue of constructive notice, which is nothing more than a legal presumption of notice which is imputed by law. *Barton v. Cannon*, 94 Idaho 422, 426, 489 P.2d 1021 (Idaho 1971). "Constructive notice is neither notice nor knowledge, but is a fiction by which, for the promotion of sound policy or purpose, the legal rights and interests of the parties are treated as though they had actual notice or knowledge." *Id.* While various legal principles (for example, that one cannot record a deed of trust against the debtor's property while the debtor is in bankruptcy) may impact the legal fiction of constructive notice by nullifying the effect of recording an interest, actual notice is simply a question of fact entirely removed from fiction – i.e., it either exits or it doesn't, and there is no law supporting the proposition that filing a deed of trust during bankruptcy nullifies the deed of trust itself.

In this matter Kirk-Hughes does not argue that Kirk-Scott's interest is superior because the September 2010 recordation imparted constructive notice. Rather, Kirk-Hughes asserts that the Golubs' interest could not be superior to Kirk-Scott's because they had <u>actual knowledge</u> of Kirk-Scott's interest prior to the time their judgment became a lien on the property.

3. Proper acknowledgement is not relevant to the Golubs' "good faith" status under I.C. § 55-606.

The District Court determined that there was no genuine issues of material fact regarding the Golubs' priority in the property after determining that "Kirk-Scott's deed of trust recordation was not properly acknowledged and certified--as required by I.C. § 55-805 and I.C. § 55-811." (R, Vol. 1, p. 419.) Here again the District Court erred by failing to recognize that actual knowledge renders acknowledgement and recordation of a deed of trust immaterial. *See Farm Bureau Finance Co., Inc. v. Carney*, 100 Idaho 745, 605 P.2d 509 (1980). Simply put, the lack of proper acknowledgement does not affect the validity of Kirk-Scott's deed of trust - it merely nullifies the legal effect of recording the deed of trust. *See Hunt v. Hunt*, 110 Idaho 649, 718 P.2d 560 (Ct. App. 1985) (explaining that while acknowledgement is a precondition to recordation, a lack of acknowledgement will not undermine a document's validity). "The recordation of a deed only serves to place on constructive notice those who do not have actual notice of the interest of estate held by the grantees of the recorded deed." *Ralls v. Fouraker*, 109 Idaho 488, 491 (1985) (explaining that actual knowledge nullifies the need for constructive

⁴ Here, the deed was actually recorded, and Golub admits that he learned of Kirk-Scott's interest a month before he recorded his judgment lien. While the recordation may not have been enough to impart constructive notice, Golub, or his agent, knew of the attempted recording, and thus gained actual knowledge.

notice through proper recordation). Here, the Golubs had actual notice, and as such whether the deed of trust was properly acknowledged and/or recorded is immaterial.

C. The Golubs' Judgment Lien is Subordinate to Kirk-Scott's Interest as a Matter of Law.

As a matter of law, a judgment does not become a judgment lien until it is recorded. I.C. § 10-1110 ("from the time of such recording, *and not before*, the judgment so recorded becomes a lien upon all real property of the judgment debtor in the county") (emphasis added). Here, the undisputed evidence is that the Golubs' had actual knowledge of Kirk-Scott's deed of trust a full month prior to the time they filed their judgment and it became a lien. (R, Vol. 1, p. 90, L.1-2; R, Vol. 1, p. 83, L. 1-3.) Consequently, they cannot qualify as good faith encumbrancers under I.C. § 55-606 as a matter of law. Indeed, this Court should determine that Kirk-Scott's deed of trust is superior to the Golubs' judgment lien as a matter of law, and remand to the District Court with instructions to enter an order consistent with that determination.

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