## Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-18-2014

# Golub v. Kirk-Scott, LTD Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41501

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Kirk-Hughes defendants' argument regarding Golub's "knowledge" of the six year old deed of trust misapplies the relevant law; Golub was not a purchaser and so his good faith knowledge is wholly irrelevant to the priority of his judgment lien. Even so, the Kirk-Hughes defendants also mischaracterize the facts to assert Golub had actual knowledge of the deed; proper analysis of the testimony establishes his lack of actual knowledge, and the Kirk-Hughes defendants concede the defective and void 2010 recordation could not have provided constructive notice.

Moreover, while the Kirk-Hughes defendants did not file additional briefing on the motion to amend, it is undisputed they joined the motion in violation of I.R.C.P. 11(a). As a result, the court did not err in ordering the Kirk-Hughes defendants to share in the order on sanctions.

### A. Idaho's priority statute does not impose the obligation on a judgment debtor to exercise bona fide purchaser "good faith" to establish its priority.

The Kirk-Hughes defendants assert that the trial court should have found that Golub's judgment lien is inferior to Kirk-Scott's Deed of Trust under I.C. §55-606 because the trial court failed to find that Golubs exercised "good faith"; this is a misapplication of the requirement of the priority statute. That requirement applies to purchasers or encumbrancers, and not to judgment liens.

Idaho Code §55-606 governs the treatment of a judgment lien in determining priority of interests in real property and provides:

Every grant or conveyance of an estate in real property is conclusive against the grantor, also against every one subsequently claiming under him, except a purchaser or encumbrancer, who in good faith, and for a valuable consideration, acquires a title or lien by an instrument **or** valid judgment lien that is first duly recorded. (Emphasis added)

#### I.C. §55-606.

The Kirk-Hughes defendants' position rests upon an interpretation of I.C. §55-606 that conditions the priority of a judgment lien upon good faith. Courts interpreting a statute are to give effect to legislative intent. *See Robison v. Bateman–Hall, Inc.*, 139 Idaho 207, 210, 76 P.3d 951 (2003). The interpretation of a statute must begin with the literal words of the statute. *Statev. Yzaguirre*, 144 Idaho 471, 475, 163 P.3d 1183 (2007). The plain meaning of a statute therefore will prevail unless clearly expressed legislative intent is contrary or unless plain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Kirk-Hughes defendants do not also address the requirement "for valuable consideration" which is addressed in the Kirk-Scott appeal. Presumably, that requirement is ignored here because it underscores the lack of logical application of the statute to a judgment lien.

meaning leads to absurd results. *Id.* If the language of the statute is capable of more than one reasonable construction it is ambiguous. An ambiguous statute must be construed to mean what the legislature intended it to mean. *Id.* To ascertain legislative intent, the Court examines not only the literal words of the statute, but the reasonableness of the proposed interpretations, the policy behind the statute, and its legislative history. *Id.* 

By its plain terms, I.C. §55-606 does not condition the priority of a judgment lien upon food faith or the giving of additional consideration. When read as a whole, the statute provides protection for two classes of interest holders: (1) a purchaser or encumbrancer, who in good faith, and for a valuable consideration, acquires a title or lien by an instrument; **or** (2) a valid judgment lien. In appropriate statutory interpretation, the word "or" indicates alternative things; in a statute should be given its usual disjunctive meaning. *State v. Rivera*, 131 Idaho 8, 10, 951 P.2d 528(Ct. App. 1998). These clauses here must be read disjunctively, because use of the word "lien" more than once would be redundant and superfluous if the statute were not intended to distinguish a valid judgment lien from a lien by any another instrument taken in good faith for consideration.

A review of the legislative history behind the 1989 amendment to the statute supports this reading. Prior to 1989, the statute did not include reference to judgment liens. In 1989, the legislature amended the statute by including the single phrase "or valid judgment lien." (*R. Vol. I, p. 346*) The stated purpose of the amendment provides:

This legislation would provide that a valid judgment lien that is first duly recorded has priority over subsequently recorded grants or conveyances of an estate in real property.

(R. Vol. I, p. 347)

The minutes of the Judiciary and Rules Committee further provide:

Senator Crapo presented this legislation and stated that it clarifies the effect of a valid judgment lien regarding a grant or conveyance of an estate in real property. The Supreme Court has recently allowed a judgment to be eliminated if the property is sold before collection can be made.

(R. Vol. I, p. 347)

Reading the statute to require a judgment lienholder to exercise good faith or produce additional consideration is somewhat of a square peg in a round hole, and leads to an absurd result. The necessity of good faith and consideration serves the purpose of protecting the purchaser; a purchaser must exercise good faith to determine whether any prior interests exist on the property so that he knows what he is purchasing. The failure the possessor of an interest in property to provide would-be purchasers with notice of that prior interest necessarily may not use the failure to disclose to their advantage. This principle is based upon the notion of a bargained for exchange to allow the purchaser of an interest in land to know what he or she is buying.

A lien by judgment is wholly different. A judgment line is not bartered for or exchanged for value; the holder obtains its interest as a matter of a statutory lien granted to judgment creditors. *See* I.C. §10-1110. It exists as a matter of law, and not in an exercise of reaching a deal with the record owner or others. The judgment creditor cannot protect itself by choosing not to have been injured by the property owner, which give it its lien rights. There is no additional consideration necessary to give rise to the rights, nor is there any notice or knowledge of other superseding interest that impacts its rights; it simply is.

A judgment holder has no such ability or requirement. It obtains its interest as a matter of a statutory lien granted to judgment creditors. I.C. §10-1110. It exists as a matter of law, and not in an exercise of reaching a deal with the record owner or others, as by giving consideration. The judgment lien holder's knowledge of other interests is irrelevant to its lien. Recordation is the only requisite to secure its priority.

Accordingly, neither the text of I.C. §55-606 nor the courts interpreting it require that any finding of good faith or additional consideration, beyond the underlying obligation giving rise to the judgment, is necessary for the holder of a valid judgment lien to avail himself to the protections of I.C. §55-606. The Kirk-Hughes defendants' argument underscores the absurdity that such a read of the statute would result in, and the trial court properly awarded Golub priority as a judgment lienholder without such findings.

### B. No disputed issues of fact establish Mr. Golub's actual knowledge of Kirk-Scott's deed of trust.

Even were Golub required to establish his good faith, the undisputed facts establish that he had no actual knowledge of the Kirk-Scott deed of trust. Put very simply, the Kirk-Hughes Defendants specify four pieces of evidence that they assert create an issue of fact, or establish Mr. Golub's knowledge regarding the Kirk-Scott deed of trust before he re-recorded his judgment in October 2009. In each instance, the evidence does not raise an issue of fact sufficient to defeat summary judgment, or reverse the trial court opinion.

The Kirk-Hughes Defendants first incorrectly assert that Golub testified he was aware of the deed of trust when Kirk-Scott recorded it on September 17, 2010. Mr. Golub's affidavit actually stated:

14. I was not aware that Kirk-Scott had executed a deed of trust to Kirk-Hughes Development prior to Kirk-Scott recording one during Kirk-Hughes Development's bankruptcy on September 17, 2010.

(*R. Vol. I, p. 96*) Golub was testifying only as to his knowledge **prior to** September 7, 2010. His affidavit is silent regarding his knowledge on or after September 17, 2010, and the Kirk-Hughes defendants simply restate the above "conversely" to reach the conclusion that Golub testified he became aware on that date. This is not what the affidavit says, and the Kirk-Hughes defendants cannot restate someone's testimony to create alleged inconsistencies.

Silence on an issue does not create a disputed fact, particularly when Golub testified directly on the issue in his deposition:

- Q. All right. Prior to 2013 when you were first handed a physical copy of the November 18, 2004 Kirk-Scott deed of trust, did you have any idea that Kirk-Scott claimed an interest in the properties?
- A. I did not know of any claim of interest in the properties or this deed of trust. No, I did not.

(R. Vol. I, p. 99)

Thus, the statements in the Affidavit of Golub identify a period in which he was unaware of the Deed of Trust, but do not identify that he had actual knowledge of the filing. He simply did not opine in his Affidavit that he was aware as of September 17, 2010, and his **subsequent** deposition testimony, during which KHD could have questioned him on the Affidavit, clearly establishes that he did not know of the Deed of Trust until it was physically shown to him in

2013. The Kirk-Hughes Defendants' attempt to utilize a specific interpretation, or misinterpretation, of Golub's one line sentence does not create an inconsistency with his actual testimony on when he became aware of the September 17, 2010 filing. Trying to read disputed facts into the two statements are necessary for the Kirk-Hughes Defendants, because there simply is no evidence of Golub's actual knowledge of that filing.

The Kirk-Hughes Defendants' liberal recitation of the facts in the record is underscored by the other two pieces of testimony on which the Kirk-Hughes Defendants rely to establish that Mr. Golub was aware of Kirk-Scott's deed of trust. First, the Kirk-Hughes Defendants assert that "Darlene Moore testified that...she personally informed Mr. Golub that Kirk-Scott had an interest in the Sloan property." Darlene Moore's testimony was instead:

#### **Affidavit of Darlene Moore**

In November of 2004...I advised Alan that it was my belief that Ms. Kirk-Hughes was still interested in the property and still interested in pursuing the development because she had just recently created a corporation called Kirk-Hughes Development and had asked me to prepare a Note and Deed of Trust in favor of her sister, Balinda Antoine, to exchange for the title to the Sloan property that had been purchased in Kirk-Scott, Ltd. name. Alan had proposed that Ms. Kirk-Hughes use the Sloan parcel to acquire financing to assist Ms. Kirk-Hughes in purchasing the Peterson property. I told them this was not possible as I had already prepared the mortgage in favor of Balinda.

(*R. Vol. I, pp. 306-307*) (emphasis added)

In 2006 ... 3) I reminded Alan that Balinda Antoine had a mortgage on the Sloan parcel so there would be no asset to collect against.

(R. Vol. I, pp. 307-308)

Ms. Moore's Affidavit only purports to establish that she informed Golub that she prepared *some* instrument, but provides no testimony that Golub had knowledge that an instrument encumbering the property was actually executed. Moreover, Moore's Affidavit is unclear as to whether she informed Golub that she prepared a Deed of Trust or a mortgage.<sup>2</sup> Clearly, if she informed Golub that she had prepared a mortgage, it cannot be said that he had knowledge of a Deed of Trust.

What is clear from Ms. Moore's Affidavit is that whatever encumbrance was intended, she informed Golub that it related solely to the Sloan property<sup>3</sup> and was in favor of Balinda Antoine; **not** Kirk-Scott, Ltd.<sup>4</sup>

Next, the Kirk-Hughes Defendants state that "Geraldine Kirk-Hughes testified that she also informed Mr. Golub that a deed of trust was granted to Kirk-Scott." In reality, Ms. Kirk-Hughes' testimony was:

#### Affidavit of Geraldine Kirk-Hughes

In September 2004...I told Mr. Golub that I was forming a separate entity to develop the land, and that title to all the properties **would** be transferred to the new company. I **specifically told Mr. Golub that I was giving my sister a mortgage or deed of trust** to secure Kirk-Scott, Ltd.'s interest. (Emphasis added)

(R. Vol. I, p. 313)

<sup>2</sup> Deeds of Trust differ from Mortgages in that deeds of trust always involve at least three parties, where the third party holds the legal title, while in the context of mortgages, the mortgagor gives legal title directly to the mortgagee.

The November 18, 2004 Deed of Trust identifies only two of the three Sloan parcels, and includes the Atkinson parcel. (R. Vol. I, pp. 39-40)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ms. Moore's Affidavit provides no foundation to establish she has personal knowledge of a mortgage executed in favor of Balinda Antoine.

In November of 2004, your affiant requested Darlene Moore to prepare a Note and Deed of Trust in favor of Kirk-Scott, Ltd. to cover the monies spent by Balinda Antoine to acquire the Sloan parcel. Your affiant specifically informed Alan of this ....

(R. Vol. I, pp. 315-316)

After Ms. Moore prepared the Note and Deed, your Affiant signed the same. ...

(R. Vol. I, p. 316)

Ms. Kirk-Hughes' Affidavit demonstrates her September 2004 intent to give **Balinda Antoine** (as opposed to Kirk-Scott, Ltd.) a future mortgage **or** deed of trust. It then states that Golub was informed of **a request to prepare** a Deed of Trust to Kirk-Scott in November 2004. Finally, it evidences that **after** the document was prepared, it was executed by Ms. Kirk-Hughes.

Ultimately, the affidavits submitted to contradict Golub's testimony only provide evidence that Golub had knowledge of a *desire or intent* to encumber the property; they provide no evidence that he had knowledge that such an encumbrance *actually* attached to any of the subject properties.

As between a mortgagee and another claimant, one who has actual notice of the other's prior claim or lien generally takes subject to it, even though the prior claim or lien is unrecorded.

In order to have this effect, the notice or knowledge must be acquired prior to the attaching of the rights of the party to be affected by it. Actual notice of a mortgage is express, direct information. Notice does not mean a formal written warning served on a party. Instead, it means actual knowledge of the fact in question, regardless of how it was acquired. However, it must be knowledge of the actual existence of the prior conveyance or encumbrance and not merely information of a purpose or agreement on the part of the grantor to make or give it.

59 C.J.S. Mortgages §298 (emphasis added).

Construing the priority of interests under I.C. §55-612, the Idaho Supreme Court has similarly held that knowledge of an <u>intent</u> to create or acquire an interest in property is not a legally recognizable interest that would constitute an adverse claim for purposes of defeating the status as a bona fide purchaser. In *Sun Valley Hot Springs Ranch, Inc. v. Kelsey*, 131 Idaho 657, 661 (1998), the Court explained this concept as follows:

In discussing whether a party had actual or constructive notice in regards to determining its bona fide purchaser status, this Court in *Bear Island Water Ass'n, Inc. v. Brown*, 125 Idaho 717, 874 P.2d 528 (1994), concluded that a party's prior notice of another party's use of a well did not create a real property right in the party using the well. A purchaser's prior notice of another party's use of property does not create any real property right in the using party that would serve as an adverse claim that could defeat the purchaser's status as a bona fide purchaser. *Id.* at 725-26, 874 P.2d at 536-37. Where notice of another party's "use" of property does not create a property right in the using party, it follows that notice of another party's "intent" to use property in the future would not create a property right in that party.

Sun Valley Hot Springs Ranch, Inc., 131 Idaho at 661.

In a recent decision addressing the same issue presented here, the Court in *Insight*, *LLC v*. *Gunter*, 154 Idaho 779, 302 P.3d 1052 (2013), rejected evidence similar to that proffered by Defendants, holding:

It is not technically possible for IM to have notice of an encumbrance on property before that encumbrance actually comes into existence. Though IM knew that Summitt was intending to execute a deed of trust, that was notice of an intent to subsequently encumber property, not notice of an actual encumbrance on property. Therefore, the district court's finding that IM had notice of the Gunters' deed of trust is clearly erroneous.

Insight, 154 Idaho at 783-84.

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